



## Changes to special educational needs and disability support



# Easy read guide for parents

#### Who is this guide for?



#### This guide sets out the new law for those with special educational needs or a disability. Some of the new law is not easy to summarise in a few lines, and we have had to simplify it for this guide

Copyright jointly owned by the Crown and Mencap. Not to be reproduced without permission.

Thanks to Photosymbols for the images in this guide.

© 2014 Mencap. Registered charity number 222377 (England and Wales); SC041079 (Scotland). Mencap is a company limited by guarantee. Company registered number 550457.

#### Contents

Who is this guide for?2
Contents
Introduction from the minister4
Important words6
Introduction17
Making decisions20
The local offer23
Support for children and young people in schools and colleges
Education, health and care plans and assessments
Preparing for the future
Disagreeing with decisions made about your child's support
More information
Notes for a meeting

### Introduction from the minister

My name is <b>Edward Timpson</b> . I am the <b>Minister for Children and Families</b> .
I work for the <b>government</b> . The government helps to run the country.
My job is to think about how to give better support to children and young people and their families.
The government has made some changes to how some children and young people and their families are supported. These changes are in the <b>Children and Families Act</b> <b>2014</b> .

	<ul> <li>These changes mean that children and young people and their families will:</li> <li>get the support they need earlier, to help them learn and be healthy</li> <li>be more involved in making decisions about their lives and the support they need</li> <li>be able to find information more easily than before</li> <li>get help to prepare for their future, including getting a job, choosing where to live and getting involved in their community.</li> </ul>
easy read easy read easy read	It is important that everyone is able to understand these changes. This document is an <b>easy read guide</b> to the changes. If you are a child or a young person who has a learning disability, this guide will help you to understand them.
pictures and RGD symbols	I think it is important to provide information in easy read for children and young people with a learning disability. Easy read information explains things using simple language and pictures so it will be useful for everyone; not just people who have a learning disability.
	I hope you find it helpful.

#### Important words



Г

This is a list of important words in the guide that you might want to know more about.

These words will be in **bold** when they are used in this guide.

#### Important words in this guide.

## Α

An <b>additional learning needs coordinator</b> is a teacher at a college who is in charge of making sure students who have special educational needs and disabilities get the support they need.
An <b>advocate</b> is someone who can help children, young people and parents to say what they want if they find it difficult to do so.
An <b>appeal</b> is what someone does when they want to try and change a decision about their support that they do not agree with.

Viera place Skills	<ul> <li>Apprenticeships, traineeships and supported internships are types of training for young people who are 16 years old or over.</li> <li>They help young people to learn skills to get a job.</li> <li>Young people doing these types of training do some learning in a classroom and some learning at work.</li> </ul>
	An <b>assessment</b> is a way of working out what kind of support someone needs.

	Children are aged between 0 and 16.
College	<b>College</b> is where young people go to learn skills that they might need when they are older. If someone is aged between 16 and 25 years old, then they can go to a college.

D	
	<b>Decisions</b> are choices people make about what happens in their life. Some people may need support to make decisions. For example, having things explained in a different way.
	A person who has <b>disabilities</b> : • may have problems with their health • may find it harder to do things than other people
	Disagreement resolution services help to sort out problems where people do not agree with the support for a child or young person who has special educational needs or disabilities. You can find out about them from your local council.

#### Ε



An education health and care needs assessment will look at what extra support children and young people with special educational needs might need in their life.

Plan My Plan	An <b>education, health and care plan</b> says what support a child or young person who has special educational needs must get.
	<b>Education support</b> can help someone to learn things like reading and writing.
	An <b>educational psychologist</b> looks at how a child or young person can be better supported to learn. This includes children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

## Η



	An <b>independent supporter</b> is someone who can support a young person or their family during an education, health and care needs assessment.
Info	An <b>information, advice and support</b> <b>service</b> is where children, young people and parents can go to find out more information about special educational needs and disabilities and how to get the support they need.

## L

	Lacking capacity is when a person is not able to make a decision for themselves. Just because someone finds it hard to make one decision, it does not mean they are not able to make other decisions.
Council	A <b>local council</b> is the group of people who look after things in a local area like services to support children and young people who have special educational needs and disabilities.



A **local offer** is information about the support and services that children and young people, who have special educational needs and disabilities, and their families can get.

## Μ

	<b>Mediation</b> is a meeting to help people who disagree about something, like the support someone gets. They can meet to try and find a way of agreeing about it.
	There is usually someone else there to help them do this. This person is called a <b>mediator</b> .
	A <b>mental capacity assessment</b> is carried out to see if someone is able to make decisions.
	If someone can not make a decision by themselves, they should still be supported to have their say.

	•
	<b>Parents</b> are people who look after children and young people.
	Often that is a mum or dad. But some children and young people are looked after by other people who act as parents. This could be:
	a grandparent
	a brother or sister
	• a carer.
	In this guide, the person who parents look after will be called 'a child'. They will be called a child no matter what age they are.
a la	A <b>personal budget</b> is money set aside for a young person or a parent by their local council.
	It can be used to buy some of the support a child or young person gets in their education, health and care plan.
	Sometimes a local council will keep this money and use it to buy some support that a young person or their family might need.

### Ρ



**Preparing for the future** is when children and young people think about what they want to do when they are older.

## R



A **review** is a meeting where a local council, a school or a college, and some other people look at the support a child or young person gets and if it is right for them.

#### S



	A <b>social worker</b> is someone who works with families to help make sure they get the support they need.
	A child or young person who has <b>special</b> educational needs may:
	<ul> <li>find it harder to learn than other people of their age</li> <li>face challenges that make it hard to go to</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>school or college</li> <li>need extra or different support to learn.</li> </ul>
	A <b>special educational needs coordinator</b> is a teacher at a school who is in charge of making sure students who have special educational needs or disabilities get the support they need.
Tribund	The <b>Special Educational Needs and</b> <b>Disabilities Tribunal</b> is a court that listens to appeals and decides if a decision should be changed.

	<b>Special educational needs support</b> is the support that children and young people who have special educational needs can get in school or college.
	A <b>speech and language therapist</b> is someone who helps children and young people who might find it harder to communicate.
Statement	A <b>statement</b> is the document that used to be given to children and young people with special educational needs in school who needed a lot of support.
	It said what support someone needed to help them learn.
	This was called a <b>learning difficulty</b> assessment for young people in colleges.

## Т



**Training** can help someone get the skills they need for things like getting a job, looking after their money, and getting on with their life.

There are lots of types of training that support someone to do these things.

## Y



Young people are aged between 16 and 25.

#### Introduction

#### Important words in this chapter



- Children
- Young people
- Parents
- Advocate
- Special educational needs
- Disabilities

#### What is this guide about?



This guide is about the changes made by the government to the way that **children** and **young people** who have **special educational needs** and **disabilities** are supported.

	These changes will help <b>children</b> and <b>young</b> <b>people</b> with <b>special educational needs</b> and <b>disabilities</b> to:
1-444	• learn
	<ul> <li>stay healthy</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>get involved in their local community</li> </ul>
	make friends
	• get a job.
25	Children and young people who have <b>special educational needs</b> and <b>disabilities</b> can now get this support for longer.
	Some people will be able to get this support until the age of 25.
	The government wants <b>children</b> and <b>young</b> <b>people</b> and their <b>parents</b> to have more say about the support they need.
Booklet	This document is a guide to help <b>children</b> and <b>young people</b> who have <b>special</b> <b>educational needs</b> and <b>disabilities</b> to understand the changes to the support that they can get.

#### How can you use the guide?

If you have <b>special educational needs</b> or <b>disabilities</b> , you might want to read this guide to find out more about the changes happening to the support you get in your life.
You can ask a friend or a supporter to help you read this guide if you get stuck.
You can ask an <b>advocate</b> to help you to do anything in this guide.

#### Making decisions

#### Important words in this chapter



- Decisions
- Lacking capacity
- Mental capacity assessment

#### What do you need to know about making decisions?

The government wants you and your child to have more chance to say what support you get in your life.
<ul> <li>You could be asked to make decisions about:</li> <li>what support your child gets</li> <li>the school or college your child goes to</li> <li>what your child might want to do in the future.</li> </ul>
If your child is aged 16 or over, they will be the main person making <b>decisions</b> . They may want to ask you to help them make <b>decisions</b> .

If your child is under the age of 16, you will be the main person making <b>decisions</b> about their life. Your child should still be asked to have their say about their support.
Sometimes some <b>parents</b> and <b>young</b> <b>people</b> are not able to make <b>decisions</b> . This is called <b>lacking capacity</b> . If this is the case, someone will need to make a <b>decision</b> for the <b>parent</b> or <b>young</b> <b>person</b> .
If someone thinks that you are not able to make a decision for yourself, you might have a <b>mental capacity assessment</b> .
If a <b>mental capacity assessment</b> says that you are not able to make a <b>decision</b> for yourself, someone else will make a <b>decision</b> for you. They must make sure they involve you and those who know you well.
Even if you are not able to make a <b>decision</b> for yourself, your views are still important.

#### Things you might want to think about



### The local offer

#### Important words in this chapter

Words Person Ogy Open	<ul> <li>Local offer</li> <li>Local council</li> </ul>
--------------------------	--

#### What is the local offer?

My area Info	<ul> <li>The local offer can help you to find out more about the support and services:</li> <li>your child can get</li> <li>you can get.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Your local offer will tell you:</li> <li>who to contact to find out more information</li> <li>how to contact them.</li> </ul>
	You can find your <b>local offer</b> on your <b>local</b> <b>council</b> 's website. If you do not have access to the internet, you can ask your <b>local council</b> or your local <b>information advice and support service</b> for information that is written down.



#### What do you need to know about your local offer?



Every **local council** will have its own **local offer**. This will be different in every area.



You can have your say about what is in your **local offer**. You can tell your **local council**:

- what information you think should be in your **local offer**
- how easy it is to find the information that is in your **local offer**
- how it can make your local offer better.

#### Question you might want to ask



## Support for children and young people in schools and colleges

#### Important words in this chapter



- School
- College
- Special educational needs support
- Special educational needs coordinator
- Additional learning needs coordinator

How can schools and colleges support for children and young people?



Schools and colleges must do their best to find out if your child has **special educational needs** and give them the support they need to help them learn.

	<ul> <li>If your child has special educational needs, a school or college will look at how they can support them. They will look at:</li> <li>what support your child needs</li> <li>what they can do to give your child the support they need.</li> </ul>
	The <b>school</b> or <b>college</b> will keep looking at the support they give your child and if it is enough to help them to learn. Your child might need different sorts of support at different times.
	For most <b>children</b> and <b>young people</b> with <b>special educational needs</b> , the support that a school or college can give is usually enough to support them to learn.
SEN support	This kind of support is called <b>special</b> educational needs support.

## What do you need to know about the support a school or college can give your child?

You can have your say about what support your child gets at <b>school</b> or <b>college</b> . You might be asked to go to a meeting with your child's teacher to talk about this.
<ul> <li>If your child is at school, the people in charge of making sure they are getting the support they need are:</li> <li>their teachers</li> <li>a special educational needs coordinator.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>If your child is at college, the people in charge of making sure they are getting the support they need are:</li> <li>their teachers</li> <li>an additional learning needs coordinator.</li> </ul>

#### Questions you might want to ask



#### Education, health and care plans and assessments

#### Important words in this chapter



#### What is an education, health and care plan?



Plan My Plan	Not all children or young people will need an education, health and care plan.
	Education, health and care plans are only for children and young people who need a lot more support than their school or college can usually give them.
	If your child has an <b>education, health and care plan</b> , it will say:
	<ul> <li>what things they need support with in their life</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>what education support they will get to help them to learn</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>what health support they will get in their life</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>what social care support they might need in their life</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>what things they want to do in the future.</li> </ul>

Statement	<ul> <li>This kind of document used to be called:</li> <li>a statement for children and young people at school</li> <li>a learning difficulty assessment for young people at college.</li> <li>Your child might already have a statement or a learning difficulty assessment. If they do, they might get an education, health and care plan in the future.</li> </ul>
	Before your child can get an <b>education</b> , health and care plan, they must have an education, health and care needs assessment to see what things they need support with.

## What happens during an education, health and care needs assessment?

Plan	To have an education, health and care assessment, your child must:
	• be under the age of 25
	<ul> <li>have special educational needs</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>be in school, college or training</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>need more support than their school or college can usually provide.</li> </ul>

	You can ask the <b>local council</b> for an education, health and care needs assessment for your child. If your child is aged 16 or over, they can ask for it themselves.
6 weeks	The <b>local council</b> will let you know if your child can have an <b>education, health and</b> <b>care needs assessment</b> within 6 weeks.
	Lots of different people will say what they think your child might need support with.
Council	These people might include:
	• you
	• your child
	• someone from the <b>local council</b>
	• a teacher
	<ul> <li>a doctor</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>someone like a speech and language therapist or an educational psychologist.</li> </ul>

	When they have done this, the people doing the <b>assessment</b> will decide if your child needs any more support than a <b>school</b> or <b>college</b> can usually give.
Plan My Plan	If your child does need more support than a <b>school</b> or <b>college</b> can usually give, the <b>local council</b> will give them an <b>education, health and care plan</b> .
	The <b>local council</b> will let you know if your child can have an <b>education, health and care plan</b> within 16 weeks.

## What do you need to know about education, health and care plans?



<ul> <li>You can have your say about what is put in your child's education, health and care plan.</li> <li>You might be asked things about your child, like: <ul> <li>What you think they might want to achieve when they are older</li> <li>Whether you think their education, health and care plan will give them the support they need.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
<ul> <li>You can also help make decisions about things like:</li> <li>the school or college your child might want to go to</li> <li>whether you want to use a personal budget for some of the support in your child's education, health and care plan.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>If your child is aged 16 or over, they will be the main person making these decisions unless they lack capacity to do so.</li> <li>They can still ask you what you think about their support: <ul> <li>during their education, health and care needs assessment</li> <li>in their education, health and care plan.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

	If your child is under 16 years old, you will be the main person making <b>decisions</b> about your child's support. They should still be asked to have their say about their support.
20 weeks	It will take up to 20 weeks for your child to get an <b>education, health and care plan</b> if they need one.
1 year	The <b>local council</b> must <b>review</b> your child's <b>education, health and care plan</b> every year.
#### Questions you might want to ask



# **Preparing for the future**

### Important words in this chapter



- Preparing for the future
- Training
- Apprenticeships, traineeships and supported internships

## What is preparing for the future?





#### What do you need to know about supporting your child to prepare for the future?



While your child is at **school** or **college**, they will be asked to think about what they want to do in the future.

happening in the area they live in.



Your child might also ask you to help them **decide** what they want to do in the future.

You might want to talk to them about:

- if they want to stay in school or college, or leave to do something else
- what job they might want to do or what experience of doing a job they might want to get
- where they might want to live
- whether they want to do some **training** to learn skills. This might include:

- **apprenticeships**, **traineeships** and **supported internships** to help them learn skills to get a job

- help to support them look after their money

- help to travel around

- help to make friends and have relationships

- help to get on with their life.



Your child should be helped to achieve what they want to do in the future.

# Questions you might want to ask

	You might want to find out more information about supporting your child to prepare for the future.
	You can talk to people at the <b>local council</b> or your child's <b>school</b> or <b>college</b> . Here are some questions you might want to ask:
	<ul> <li>Who should I talk to about supporting my child to prepare for the future?</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>What things can my child plan for in the future?</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>How can I help support my child to do what they want in the future?</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>What kind of training can my child do to help them get a job or to learn skills to help them in the future?</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Who can help support my child to do what they want in the future?</li> </ul>

# Disagreeing with decisions made about your child's support

## Important words in this chapter



- Appeal
- Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Tribunal
- Mediation
- Mediator
- Disagreement resolution services
- Information, advice and support service

# What can you do if you disagree with decisions about your child's support?



	If you do not agree with a decision that is made about your child's <b>education, health</b> <b>and care needs assessment</b> or their <b>education, health and care plan</b> , you can say so. You might be able to ask for the decision to be changed. This is called an <b>appeal</b> .
Tribunal	A special court will decide whether a decision should be changed. This is called the <b>Special Educational</b> <b>Needs and Disabilities Tribunal</b> .
	<ul> <li>Before you ask the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Tribunal to change a decision, you can talk to the local council to see whether you can work out something that everyone is happy with. This is called mediation.</li> <li>Someone will help you and your child to try and work out something that everyone is happy with. This person is called a mediator.</li> </ul>
	If you do not want to try <b>mediation</b> , you do not have to.



If your child does not have an **education**, health and care plan, their school or college will help support them to learn.

If you do not agree with the support your child gets from their **school** or **college**, you can try and change things by using your local **disagreement resolution service**.

The **disagreement resolution service** may set up a meeting between you and your child's **school** or **college** to help you to work out something that everyone is happy with. Your child's **school** or **college** has to agree to take part.

# What do you need to know about disagreeing with decisions about your child's support?



Plan My Plan	<ul> <li>The things you can appeal to the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Tribunal about include:</li> <li>your local council's decision not to give your child an education, health and care needs assessment or an education, health and care plan</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>what it says in the education support part of your child's education, health and care plan.</li> <li>if you think your child has been unfairly treated by their school or college because they have special educational needs or disabilities.</li> </ul>
Info	You can talk to your local <b>information</b> , <b>advice and support service</b> if you want more information or support about disagreeing with decisions about your child. Your <b>local offer</b> must tell you how you can disagree with any decisions about the support your child gets.

#### Questions you might want to ask



# **More information**

### Important words in this chapter



## How can you find out more information?

	If you want to <b>read</b> more information about the support you or your child can get, you can:
Info	<ul> <li>look at your local offer</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>look at your child's school or college's website</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>look at some of the easy read guides in the 'other useful information' section of this guide.</li> </ul>



# What support can you get to help you and your child do anything in this guide?



	Your local council
Council	Your <b>local council</b> can help you find out information about the support that you and your child can get in your local area.
	Your <b>local offer</b> will give information about the support and services that you and your child can get. You can find it on your <b>local</b> <b>council's</b> website.
	You can find out who your <b>local council</b> is at the <u>government's local council finder website</u> .
	Advocate
	You can ask to have an <b>advocate</b> to support you to find out more information or to talk to someone.
	To find out more about <b>advocates</b> , you can ask your <b>local information, advice and support service</b> .
	You can ask your <b>local council</b> to help you or your child get an <b>advocate</b> .

	Independent supporter
	For some decisions you can talk to an <b>independent supporter</b> .
	An independent supporter is someone who can support you or your child during an education, health and care needs assessment.
	To find out more about <b>independent supporters</b> , you can:
	<ul> <li>ask your local information, advice and support service</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>visit the <u>council for disabled children's</u> <u>independent support website</u>.</li> </ul>
	Parent carer forums
	<b>Parent carer forums</b> will help you to say what support you want for your child.
	To find out where your local <b>parent carer</b> <b>forum</b> is, visit the <u>national network of parent</u> <u>carer forums' website</u> .



# Family, friends and others

You might want to ask someone you know to help you get more information or support. You could to talk to:

- someone in your family
- a friend
- a social worker
- someone from a school or college, like a teacher or special educational needs coordinator
- a charity
- someone you trust.

# Notes for a meeting



You might want to have a meeting with someone to talk about anything in this guide. You can get support to help you at the meeting.

Here are some things you might find useful to write down before and after the meeting:

## Before the meeting:

- Who are you meeting?
- When and where are you meeting them?
- What do you want to find out?
- What questions will you ask them?
- What support do you need at the meeting?

## After the meeting:

- Who else do you need to talk to about this?
- What did they say?
- What is going to happen next?